
Ii~TfTT!IE\'!LE : LA;~r,.y TErlI'LE (TAPE~; 5) 

n:TElzl.'IHJER: JOE B, FnA~;TZ 

Augus t ll, 1970 

F: IntervieH number four ,lith Larry Te:r~ple on August 7 turned out to be 

a faulty intc:rvicH because of ~achil:e difficulties. A good hour-and-

a-half interview produced only a little more than two-and-one-half 

pages of transcript before its contents becnme indistinct. Toduy's 

interview by Joe B. Frantz in Mr, Temple!s office all. August 11, 1970, 

will necessarily cover some of_that safe material. 

Larry, let's geT: bad,. to talki:lg Scoop Jackson visit ,-lith the Presi-

dent on his boy's birthday. 

T: .,)..11 rizht. I don 't kno"T ,,,hat I may have recountcrl so this r.ny be a little 

bit repetitive, but--

F: That's ,chat ,,;e ,-:ant, 

T: All right. 

F: I tIs Hhet ,ole don't have th-::tt ".'orries us. It's not uhnt ue have tHice. 

T: As you indicated, the occasion for the meeting was because it was Scoop 

Jackson's son's birthday. On that day, Senator Jackson and Mrs. Jackson 

Elnd the birthday boy and another cbild Hhich I recall as being a dnug~lter> 

but I'm not sure about that, ca~e to pay a visit on the President. 

One or the things I thinl~ ,-]e; r::::..)" have discussed before> Joe, that 

Di~ht not be in here ,';2S, you inqu i_red uhcther presents ,:ere readily 

2.\"ai la~lc. I inlHcatcu that 'illen th2 President Has about to go over to 
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at that tin-:c ~·?hcthc:;: there i·;.:lS sc.::t of a storehouse of presents, or ivhethcr 

they had to send out to the mar>.et place to pick lip the presents. Hhat 

the President did is he kepL some items handy thnt he wanted to give 

to peo?lc. By and large those itCDS in some W2Y relnted either directly 

to Lyndon Jol:Jlson, or directly to the Presidency, or both. For BX2mple) 

he had so~: ball point pens that had both the Presidential Seal and 

Lyndon B. John~Jn written on them. He had some, by the way, felt-tip 

pens thilt he used in proelar..ation signings or bill signings. I think he 

\vas fa:'l.-ly ,:<, 11 n~ted--all the Prcsid-:. .Lt:S did it, but he may have done 

it witL a greater de~~e8 of passing out the pens at the signing--the 

pens th2~ were uS2d fer signific.~t signings of so~e form or anetter. 

Th~ Pres i~~::::lt h2d things like cuff links Iv'ith the Presicientj2.1 seal th2.t 

I've gc=:. all; and he had ti.e clasps. For HO:T'.'2.n, he had little Presidential 

Seals that would go on charm bracelets, or a perfume atomizer with a 

Presid~r=i~l Seal. 

Tl~;2'.-E: '.:::csn It a great store of things. They were fairly well limLted, 

but thc' ?~_'c:3icknt r2co;;;nized full ,veIl the great respect and aHe that 

people :~ild [·or the Office of the Pre.sidency, as He 11 as for the man Hho 

held that position. He knew very well that when he gave things that had 

his name on them, or gave things that had a Presidential Seal on them, 

or both, that he was giving an item that had great significance to the 

people - ,_.- "'~c:i\e~ i.t. He llid t:lat in full knmdeclge. He 'imnted his 

t~','lt he h~ld affci::":ion or fonun(.:ss for to h,:l\:e th2sC 

items. 

the C.:1'· 
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he just inviterl us up for a drink afterward. We were sitting in the 

living room, and he said, "Oh, by the Hay, Louanne, have I ever given 

you one of the busts of the President?" She said, "No," and he proceeded 

to give her one of the busts. I don't even remember what all else--

maybe an atomizer or something. So it didn't always have to be a 

particular occasion. It might just be that you were there. I think a 

lot of times he might thing, "Well, I've got a staff member who has 

been working awfully hard, and he has been away from home and maybe this 

will help soothe the conscience of the wife if I do this." I think he 

did it, recognizing what he was doing. 

F: Ever:,'one \'7a;~ts to have his picture taken with the Presidl=nt, and the 

President i'JG:.S inordinat(.ly patient, and maybe even "njoyed, having his 

picture taken with people, Did he sign all of those pictures personally? 

T: Yes. It 'Has one of the sources of great surprise to me when I '.J'ent to 

Washington. I had been to Washington in June of t 67 on the occasion of 

the retirement of Justice Tom Clark, and George Christian had taken me 

to the White House. The President, I later found out, was wanting to take 

a look at me to see if he Hanted to bring me to the Hhit e House, and he 

invited I .. ouanne and me to lunch. Our picture was made 't.J'ith him, and tHO 

weeks later I got the picture--autographed to us, signed by the President; 

and I was delighted to get it. 

But I had been around political figures enough to think that perhaps 

th.:J.t Has not an au!::hentic sign<1ture; that perhaps somebody had signed 

his n~lJ!J(" on it, because I didn I t think I Has important en.ough for him to 

take the ti:.:c; from !tis other dutic.;s to sign it. But I found out ~,]ho.n 

T ~ot to H~Lsilington that Lyndon Juhnson had an unhelicvablc amount of 

copy iBJ UBRARY 
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p;'dicnc.:c in uoin:; ncnL'::.l .signit~:";. Th2tT:; not r.eally a \'cry fair phr<lse, 

but just literally signing his name or inscribing something on pictures 

as ~·)ell as sii;ning Llic great multitude of dOCUIr.Cilts that require a 

Presidential signature. On many occasions at night I recall that from 

maybe from nine orcloel, at night until eleven o'clock at night, or nine 

to ten or ten-thirty, he would sit at what we called the signing table 

which ,·"as the table irn~"::diatcly behind his desk and as the name indicates, 

Has tl~e depositorJ' of things that 11'- -:oded to have his signature on them. 

He Huuld sit at tlle sig!Cir,~ table and just si.s'Tl hi: :-came, maybe \olithout 

sto?~i"g [or an hour :'1" an hour-and-a-half on the many lett,~: r, the n~;;'V 

Presics:lti.-:;.l doc",-"el1ts, cOi:l,;;,issions--

F: Mearn.lc carryi~g on a conversntion with you? 

T: Right::. V11;,lc carrying on a con\!crc;atio~,. I'm rewincled of the fellm} 

that c.~Hlld:1! t '(Jalk and chc ' gU:TI at the SaT:l8 tine. Th2.t SO" t of char-

act~r~Z2S my coordinatio: of being uble to do two thing" at once. But 

he l:,,:~; 7:>".t he ,)as signing and could put (:1 inscriptiol1 on a pictu::e 

and ::;- :~~, :lis n2.TJ~ \·:hi12 c2.1-ryi:l; on C1 corrvcrsation. He did that just 

hours ,;". e"d and never once did I hear him complain about the tir:;:::~ it 

took T;'::: :::.) sign his ~nr;le and autograph tlle picture. 

F: This 2srt of the office and part of the--? 

T: This I:,c.=:::' ?.J.rt of the office and a part of the cluty. He kn~\'7 that he 

could J f~c the; picturcs. He had that po\vEr. l':obody matle him sign 

those: 

to h2' 
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recipient of a picture would put greater store and greater value in it, 

of having their pictlL'c m<ldc ,-lith a President and signed by that Presi-

dent, o~ m3ybe just a picture of the Prcsidcnt himself that's autographed. 

So he was quite willing to do it and, as I say, never complained; and 

spent a great, great amount of time. I would say during the course 

of a day, a regular day in his office, that he Hould average an hour to 

an hour-and-a-half each day doing some form of signing. That so-called 

signing table migh t be full in the morning, and when he had a fe't'; moments 

betHeen other activities he might turn arowd and do a lot of signing. 

Then by th£.: tir.~e he 'ivsnt over ,~)r lunch in the .~£ternoon, more things 

would have come in and been stacked on it. 

F: We're getting away from Scooop Jackson, but I want to ask one other 

question. Everybody is protective of any Preside;-;t, and I thinl.;;: Lyndon 

Johnson invites that sort of attention more dian most, but do you have 

any sa£e:;uard o"':er th2.:1 your OHn vigi lance to see that something does 

not get overloo;"cd theit needs to bQ signed, that needs to be handled. 

Do things just sort of ever get lost? 

T: I guess maybe they do. I can't think of anything offhand that got lost. 

For example, there's 3 man named Bill Hopkins at the 't·Jhite House that 

almost nobody Imoe\.J e:-:cept, as you and I both know, th!:! people that have 

been there. Bill Hopkins has been the fellow who has kept the White House 

waving, I think he C2,lnC over under Hoover. 

F: Hf.: 's about as apo Ii ti l',-:1 as YOli can ge t. 

T: E:.:actly, He h,,5 se:rved ,-7ith every President since Hoover. The 

lcJ"J' th-inE;s lil~c ]c:~L~~l~ti()ll, or li1~e som~ Presidential comr.iission of S01"e 

kill"l, caj,.c thr()~I:,il j~j 11 Ilopkin;.;' office. Bill kept tr<lch, of thcm--umong 
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a great, great multitude of other duties. I'd say there Has no one single 

individual, other than the President, in the White House during the time 

I was there that was more valuable than Bill Hopkins because he knew the 

precedence. He knew the people. He knew the dead bodies--the trite 

phrase is. He kne~" ~vhere everything was, and he kne,,, ,,,hat had to be 
 

done--what the form, what the procedure, as well as what the law--. He 

wasn't a lawyer, but he ,'laS a better Im.Jyer than I Has tvith rega'rd to the 

Hhi te HOLB= operations or anybody else that '.Jas there. But things didn't 

get lost because of his super-efficiency. 

cHou knoH, there i·;as a great deal of legislation that came through. 
d 

Well, when the legislation carne through, the President had a period of 

time to sign it, a:ld--as I'm sure sorr.e of your other interviews ,·,ill 

ref~ect--when a piece of legislation passed Congress and came to the 

Hbito House ~ it ;;'7as ir:s;ediately taken to the Bureau of the Budget. The 

Bure 2C of the BudgEt passed its comrnents' on even though it may not have 

inve: 1 ved. I~oney. :Sut =hey may not go out to the various federal agencies. 

If t~2 Depart~ent of Interior were affected, then Interior gave its 

judg~ent and its reco~endation on legislation. If it had some foreign 

trace: aspect, [the] D2partment of Commerce. 

3ut ~t all times Bill Hopkins knew where that piece of legislation 

was, ~aybe copies of it went out, but Bill Hopkins kneH. When there was 

time 22::-tai_:l that the legislation had to be acted upon or it became la~" 

President's signature, Bill Hopkins saw to it that on that 

day t~2 P:-esicient knew about it. If the President ,·7ere in an airplane 

head~~ t~ ;c~s:ralla, or if he were in Hawaii meeting President Thieu or 

Pres:_<,or,~~ ~',,-rk Of i~ore,:l as he: did, or if he "Jere at the ranch, Bill Hopkins 
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knee. Fhere he Has and sa", to it that if the President Has not going to be 

at the Hhi te House on the day of a finalization for signing) that that 

legis lation was "lith him. He did just a magnificent job. If he slipped 

up it e i the r 't"asn' t 'tyhen I Has there> or i t ~"asn r t someth ing that I kne.v 

about. I'm sure there were little mistakes> but I'm not mvare,of any. 

Then of course "lhen it comes to "Thing alike" pictures> or ''Like'' 

letters~ or like some Presidential commissions> it doesn't really make any 

difference. It may be that ,.;hoever initiated getting the picture or 

the cOrr:-:<ission on the President's desk ,.mnted it signed on Monday, but 

by and large it didn't p.ake any difference if it "Yleren't signed until 

F'~iday. So there was an excellent control, and I attributed it almost 

solely to Bill Hopkins. 

F: I used to be a.:t2.Zed '..lith the promptness 1:vith which things like that got 

done. I've sent OV2::- pictures and they're back> you knmv, 1:-lhen you might 

expect a month's delay, but they're back in two or three days. 

T: I think one of the reasons that the President was so prompt and was so 

efficient about signing of things, including pictures--. You can see when 

you look at the sultitude of items that come on his desk, and I thiru~ that 

he recognized thkt if he ever delayed--if you let three or four or five 

or eight days go by--it's almost impossible to catch up. If I'm right in 

my recollection of an hour or an hour-and-a-half a day on Signing, 

you can imagine if he let six days go by where you are. You're nine hours 

behind and you just can't catch up. 

F: You just don't pick up that kind of time> right. Okay, let's get back 

to Scoop. 

T: All right, back to Senator Jackson. I don't recall what the presents 

.I 

. ::;~llV lS) tUmARY ~ 
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were that the President got for the Jackson boy. I recall th.:lt as \·!.J.3 

the Presidc~lt's natur, he got a present for the birthd~y Loy--got sever~l 

pn':c~nts, as I recall, for the other child, and for Senator J3.c~,son and 

Hrs. Jackson. The Presi dent is not a fe 110H ",ho uould just giv:.: a presc::!· ,. 

to the hono~~e. If there are s~ver.J.l there, he'd want tG ~ive ~rcse~ts 

to all of them. 

F: Let ask you one other question as an intrusion. Nm·) , Scoop Jac]-s(,.t 

had ,·wrkc?' \:ith the President as Senator. They had been ve:.ry close arld 

,,,ere first-n',. ' and so on, but I rather gather that no r:i:.:'ter hOH close, 

that ,C; OGle i. ng C02. ,T\ler t!-,2 Office of the Presidency. That is, that 

inves::s t;1e mc"~. ~'7hcn 1:c bccor::es Pr.'siuent So tbat even SOl);J,.l.;or J<,.cl~son 

no lc::;e.c ~;r;' "'~ite th buddy l,~, , Julu have bc:....n in the. 8en<'..[0. 

F: It is:','l: ~~DV o.LL(;~:Dt of Lyndon Jchnson's to put c. distance. It just 

happ€:':"c. 

T: I thi::': ,::::::,[:'s right. P.J.rt of it COlT,es ".lith the change: of the n':U7:e "lith 

Hhid~ --(]~: c"CIer to J. IT,,:m. It Day be tl12t durin; the Sc;nate days they \'Jere: 

Scoop ~nd ~yndun to each other. At the time we're talking about, and any 

time ,- .... 7-- '" 
--,- '- -·'0 

, , 
Crle: Presidency, A Senator like Sen~tor Jackson would treat 

the P_-C.J~r;._:,t vitb great deference. He ,-las It:l'lr. President ll to Scoop 

Jacks r -~. 

«,J --,,: onc occ:.lsion, uith one fc:2mb'2r of Congress, did I ever hear 

.::my IL:-, 0~ Con~r~s~, or any official in Washington, refer to the 

presi 

re£cy l~;c;ll, Lyndon clid so-anu-so. 11 

But I ,.~:; u ._: t on a pc- r S (>i:' - tt)- pc: r s 011 f ZlC~- to- [':d.:':'C con vc r S.:1 t ion. I 

-IS--
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heard one F",cTnber of Congress; who is a Texas CongJ"C'c;sm.:llc by the waJ') 

call him Ly~don several times, and it was really offensive to mc. It 

9 

seemed comp_2tcly uut of place and completely out of character and didn't 

give a tone of informality or long-time friendship. It gave a--

F: It was a long-time friend? 

T: It I'las a long-time fricf.d. It gave a tone of sort of a young upstart 

trying to rr.;·:e an impression, and he Ivasn't. It didn't come across very 

well. I think there ,.;'ere people in Austin and people in Johnson City 

who gre,v up ,vith the Pre~;ident that referjed to him on a first-name 

bas is to his face Hhen they sa,v him do\-7n here. This was Jim Hright that 

I'm talking about, and Jim Wright is the only member of Congress a· 

~.Jashington official I ever heard refer te· him by his first :~:[Je. Even 

a fellaH like EV'.:!:'2tt Dirl~sen or Senator Russ, 11, or Sen[".or Nansfie 1 d, 

and certaLnly all of the Cabirr::ct people tre. _~ed him ,-lith great deference. 

That Has true of Scoop Jackson. On an occasion where it was kind of 

a happy tiDe for Senator Jackson with the son's birthday, it wns informal 

ar: kind of L:1.ughing, but still you could tell that one man vIas the 

Pres ic.cnt Clnd cne m:m was somebody lse. And Senator Jackson did treat 

him with that deference. 

I think I may have mentioned earlier that when the President was 

about to con:e over to the OV:ll Roo:n and he thought about the present, 

he also remembered that Luci Johnson Nugent and young Patrick Lyndon 

Nugcnt--Lyn Kugcnt--"crc staying in the Hhi te House. They really had 

come up for the President's March 31 speech and had been there since 

t-:h.'lt til.:o. I\:.t,:lt thi.:. point, \·}~lS over in Vietnam. And the PreSident, 

as everybody knew then and knows now, is just abidingly proud of his 
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grandson and ULcd to sl!()\" hil~l off ane! liked to have him around. He" 

called Luci and told her to bet Lyn ready, that he uanted to take Lyn 

over to meet a new friend. 

So he took Lyn over to the Hllite House tJ)lt mornin6, and the early 

part of the fairly abbreviated meeting with Senator Jackson was with the 

chilG~-cn, lTLyn, shake hands ,,7ith (vlhatever the little boy's name is)" 

and ~hat sort of thing; and the Pre~ident l' ing efforts to get Oki~~to, 

the photographer, to take pictures of the children. The President's 

picture ~as sade with the little boy- -with both children, as I recall. 

Afte:c this had tal'-;'n place. 

It r.:oc.lly was 2 1)Out at the end of the inforI7:Cl.l meeting and the ;~!rpn:-:2 

for \·;hi,c: tl-: ;~~C'eting had beer: set up--na,,;ely the picture taking--ha(l 

alre"J-,' t3..;(C:' place, I recccli George Christi,"''' carr~c in and h· had in his 

hand d \.;i:c-e service report th,"'" pas frml1 hClIter' s. I think, as I indi-

cateG t::J :;-'':-:',[ :::cfore, :\et:ter's is sort of an interno.t:ion2.1 AP or UPI. 

They're the counterpart of AP and UPI, but it's an international news 

serv~_,:.:-:. 1Titllin five minutes prior to Geor;2 IS coming in, a story had 

come ~cross the wire service of Reuter's indicating that Hanoi had accepted 

the Frc5idE~cts March 31 initiative--at least at that Doint had tenta-

F: The \';';icc: :L),:sc' learned of tbis over the Fire and not through diploIT,2.tic 

T: Right _ :~;';.)'-L;ht at the tirr? h01.! strc:mt';e :it Has that \·:e'd find out really 

thrO',; .:~ ~~crvice i:mcl not throu",l: the ciploTn.:J.tic cha.lH12ls. George's 

~tt(;r 

t () 1)0; 
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George rippc it off tllc ti<":];cr t:ipC and brought it in to tlc President. 

The President obviously H:tS elc.t:ed. He had hoped and had said 

publicly, as well as many, many time privatel:y, that he would feel like 

he had made a very, ve:j significantly successful move in deciding not to 

seek reelectio:. if it v70uld bring ali.lt peace. I think he'd been a litt18 

bit frustrated from Narch 31 until this time because he had gotten no 

response. He had made a big ini!·i.ative and had taken a very large step, 

but had gotten no response. He was obviously elated and obviously pleased 

at this point. I think itrs sign"i.:icant tb t Sen,-)or Jackson was then;: 

because the first tni:lg he did \-7as to sh",,; it to Senator Jackson, Hho Has 

pleased. Even at th~t time Senator Jacksan--

F: Did be run off t~:2 kids at tho..t point? 

T: He shm;ed .:t to Senator Jacks"n and ,;"hen he tall:- i_o hir.i just a moment. 

Then he looked up and Sa'.·1 th"t L/n ,·]as still th~re, Hrs. Jackson ,.?as 

still the:-c, and th:::. tviO chilclreL. He asked that I take Lyn out of the 

romr, and set o"e of his sec;,.-etaries to take him back over to the Nansion. 

I assu~e, although I have no vivid recollection of it, that Senator Jack-

son sort of gave the sign to his wife to remove their children whicli did 

take place. And after looking at it just a moment and talking to Sena-

tor Jackso, about it--as r've said, Senator Jackson was a very respected 

member of the Senate ,.]ho ';'las knOlvledgcable and was very active :"1 foreign 

affairs and, as \·/12 knOll fror.l later accounts, \-las apparently offered the 

position of Secretary of D~fensc by President Nixon nine months later--

the Pn.:sjdcnt th(:i1 il;:::-;cdi.:ltcly dc.ci.dcd that he Hanted to get on the phone 

with, as  I recall, Secretary Rusk and Walt Rostow. 

When he called Walt Rostow, I think Walt told him that he was just 
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gctting across through regular diplomatic sources of information this same 

rl'j.,)rt the.lt I·J2.S in Reuter's. Iiy recollection is that, ,,,hile this Hc!" 

mid-morning, ten or ten-thirty, the President told Walt to get all the 

infor;:-::~ion he could at hand and to assemble for later in the day, I 

think, at lunch, ~\7hat He refe:rred to as the Tuesday luncheon groyp. 

Th. TuE'S d:- luncheon group, as your records Hi 11 reflect, Here the; 

Secrr :.:c:.ry of State an(l the Secretary vf Defense; General hT11~(~ler, chair-

man of the Joint Chiefs of Staff; l·lr. He lr.:s , the head of the CIA; Halt 

ROStO~7; and Tom Johnson and George Christian and the President. I believe 

that's about all. It got its name from the obvious source; that the Presi-

dent met with them almost religiously every Tuesday, even if there was no 

p<"rti:::ul;c: :)usi.ncss to b, discussed, to discus:; \·711<:'.t the overall foreign 

situation was. Very seldom were there any outside individuals at those 

meetings. When a General Westmoreland or a General Abrams would return 

from the field, they might sit in, but seldom were any other guests 

invit::.rJ 0::: sc:ldum did anyone: else o.tt0i,d. It \-las at th.:J.t point t' ,It I 

sort :) [ i:ad2:"! ou t of the pi,' i:urc. I jp:::; t hapPcE..:d to be there Hhen he 

got word just by coincidental circumstances. Once it became a matter of 

the real business of foreign affairs, that wasn't my cup of tea. 
F: You moved into other realms, right. 
T: I was out.  

F: Let's switch topics and talk a little bit about--well, it's really two 

to~)ic . ~ 0::'.2. One is the" Ion,; ?::tCTi:pt of Senator Russell to get Judge 

Alex.:::.:-·· 

inte:c. 

Just~ 
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Justic~--.:J.nd sort of the a[tc~l"m.1.th of that, ,,Jhich am()ng other thing<; 

brought B:J.rcfoot S::nders .:lIang in i.ts Hake. 

T: Right. Let me start in sort of the chronological order. I think I may 

have started in the prior tape. In the very early part of the yea~ of 

1968--it really TIl2Y h2ve been '67--there b,-::ame a vacancy in the positio;L 

of United States District Judge for one of the districts of Geor~gia. 

I think I indicated to you on a previous intervieu that the cllston--

procedure, I should S2Y--"las that \'7hen a vacancy did occur that the ini-

tiation of the investigation or the recommendCltion of individuals rested 

\vi th the Attorney General. NOH this H,3..Sn I t peculiar to th,. Johnson 

Administration. MyoId dear firend To~ Clark tells me that he had the 

responsibility durirz; the TrU;O;2n Ad~-:inistrati()n for handling the appoint-

ment of federal jl' ' ;es. I h:~d had several con\~:_rsation's 'Hith him aQout 

hOH that worb-:. So I do kno~.' that th2t was t} custom and procedure 

during those days. I had undc:l"s !:c<d that Herbert 13rm-mell in the Eiscn-

ho~er Admii:lstrat"on, Attorney Gene~al Robert Kennedy during the Kenn~dy 

Adminis tra tion--. So this ,.las the ?c:cedure that Has fairly wo.ll follmicd 

by all Presidents. 

Hhen this vacancy bec:.'me due, the Attorney General contacted 

Senator Russell to get his rcco~~endation of an appointee. I may not have 

mentioned this before, I have a vague recollection that the reason for 

Sen.:ltor Russell is that although his colleague, Senator Talmadge~ ~l2.S a 

Dcmoc)'at, also, and cntitlcd--to I think the phras(: is " patronage"--it 

has a kind of odious sound to me, and patrona~e doesll't connote the bad 

thin 6s to mC that it does to othe::::-s. In the po..trotlrlgc process I think th.'lt: 

most Sl'natCJrs, H;~(:n" tl1(:TL2 I-.'c:rc t,:o Senators of the same party fl~om a 
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st.:ltC' anJ the sai:-:C party as tIle Presidc;~t, they sort of s"i'~:'ped-c<.1t m.:-':ing 

recommendations. If there were two vacancies, one Senator would recom-

mend one and one 1,.'c",'d rec~~:nr::2nd an,".her. I think in this c<'..se Senator 

Talmadge and probably made the precious recommendation to a vacancy, and  

now it was Sen~tor Russell's turn, so to spe.:lk. So for that rc~on it 

was Senator Russell that was contacted rather than both S~nators. 

Hhile on ~ost oc sions ".'hen a Senator ~,ould be co!':.t: ;.;ted for his 

reco:i~c;ndatio'lS fa:;: a jud~:'::hip, the Senatoi.- ~,:ould probably make SE 1.-201 

recor.s.::ndo.tions, on this occasion he didn I t. He recorP.r.;cnded a l~an by 

the cu.:,.' of Ale",:2.Eder ~~s being his choice, period. Wasn't first, wasn't 

pl-cfe2:'2nti::l, it ',)elS bis ct' c:c. The Att':Jrney General did some checking 

and t~L~, 2 I recall, first starred in about January nf '68. 

be by retJutation the lnJst aole, the Ire:; t talented, the m::::::; t brilliant 

that came back initially, and later on as well. He had a distinguisncd 

record scholastically.  He had a distinguisk:'d record at the bar from a 

mor.:1.1 ~'>::':;;:-i:::y. L\O one cvel' raised any q;.l'2stion about his ability. 

There :r,e.\' !c;J.vc, he:::1 so;::ebody in Georgia that thouGht that there "as 

another lawyer that might be his peer and might be his equal, but nobody 

thoug;"- ::"':"'.c: thc"-'c~ ',i2,S a bett::, trainr::d, a ]Jl:tter experienced, a wore 

aclm j ~. 
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Hith you I said '57 or 'SS"-it could 11<' .. '112 been '5G--but in the 1950's 

he had made a speech. And the speech follo,·:ed the 195!, flrmm vs. Board 

of Education d~segr~gation decision, and the decisions that succeeded the 

flrm.;n decision. Thnt speech that '.Jas made by He Alexander, I think, Has 

prohahly correctly characterized by a lot of people as a racist spc.ech. 

It certainly was a segregation speech. In keeping with his brilliance, 

the: speech ,,,as ono that was very artict:late, very eloquent even to rea.1; 

and I tm sure it must have been ,}JE'n he gave it. I recall having read tIle 

speech several times, and t'le ther,:' of it Has a tracing of tyranny in the 

history of the world and primarily the history of the United States. 

In the speech Hr. Alex:lnder said that throughout hi5::ory, tyranny had come 

to this country in rna",,)' "',)r;r.s and many guises and that nOH, today--tod2.}" 

being '56,7,or 8, somewhere in there--today tyranny had come to the 

United States in the form of the black Ju .. !ici.~:i" robe; ane' thi1t tyranny 

had corr!~ in the form of the Supl.-eme Court and the deeis ions of the Suprc.::.;e 

Court; anl1 that tha.t '.Jas the POl."st of all kinds of tyranny. He went on 

in great cletail to, I guess you s. y, take on the Suprerr,:." Court about their 

decisio~s, ancl to denounce them for those dcc{sions. That was ahout the 

only public utterance, the only public activity, that appeared to be in 

the record with regard to this gentleman, and it obviously was of such 

magnitude as to cause concern by many organizations and cause concern 

by the Attorney General and ultimately by the President. 

The Attorney General come to the President in early spring of 1968. 

I might say as an aside--when the President and the Attorney General met 

in their office, 2t lc:,st during l0GS, th~ President <llIr:ost aluays had 
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DepGrtr:-._ of Justice h.::; \.:.?ilted me to kn('-.: ~.:l:' t HilS tl'ilspiring 51 he 

woul(~n t:: have to tell m: about it ilnd n ··cdue:: te me at a later time. 

So I was there on the occasion of his n~ ·:.:tinf;s Hith Ra;.~s~y at Ivhich 

Hr. A10:.;:ander t s appoin tr.1Cmt \o]O.S dis cussed; and I remer.:bcc in the' e2.r1.y 

convers<1tio':s Ram::iey said, "Hr. Presiden::, I knOll that this is important.: 

to Senator Russell, and I know that he wants this man appointed, but we're 

receiving a lot of opposition from minority groups." The NAACP had 

nbjec::ed !:o the nc;~in2.tion. Hord of it had got',l out·.1 Georgia, as you 

can uL'.cler:: t2nd. They ,~.-!d other or2,2nizations reIirescn:-i ng minorit.; 

group.:; \)C'j~::': 0:. :';';,'g to it, saying t1.·.,_ if this type . .:;£ individual, 

refle(:tir'..2; G cppoi: :.:ed court, 

it ,·;ould seL bcic:k all t:"t the fc.:..:ral courts and a] 1 t);.t the federal 

gover:~. :t had been ;-;b],.' to att.:,in si:--c:.' ! 954. 

F: Of C01:r-:;::', th(::..·. T S a strong L.:i-court infc ~ce here too. 

T: Right. 

F: For a .;-:~~::. \·:ho! s nC\l going to be a part of it. 

T: Going::::J :1C: a p.:lrt of the fedc:ral judiciary. Ra;nsey said that it ~vas 

all th" l;-:'J~-C important because it was a Southern position--that if we 

Here t;~l~~::',:; .:ljOLlt I~(:\,; ;;"mpsilire, it might bc a horse of ancther color. 

But when you're talking about one of the Southern states, where the problem 
of implementation still existed, it was all the more important to get a 
man who recognized what the mandate of the federal courts had been and the 
federal governtment, and to follow it and implement it and put it through. 

tiJ;;C, 
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Circuit being the United States Court of Appeals for the 5th Circuit which 

covers the Southern area from Texas to Florida--and that while this was 

not an ~ppellate jud;,;c.ship, that the decisions '(vent up tL.cough the 5th 

Circuit and he thought tlLi.t there H(!!";:e some people on the 5th Circuit 

who Her(~n I t as enlightened as others. If the President ~."en.: to name a 

man to a federal district judgeship, trial judgeship, that render~d a 

decision that had to go up for appcal--the federal government had to 

appeal it--it Hould complicate the thing even more. So he did object 

to the appointE:2nt, and suggeste(i in the early meetings th·t there 

was just no Hay the Presi~ (:ould make that appointmen::; that he, 

R2~sey, Hould not reco~~nd it to the President; and th~t the President 

Ramsey also sugge: ::ed tl1.:l.t because of the speech that }lr. AlexandL"r 

had made, that H;". Alc..:anuC!r proba::;ly ". ~ld not be cleared by the A}1<\ 

Cor:rrnittee- the i\ir.2.J.:ican Bar Association COlT!:'!,ittee- which checked on 

all pot2U:ial jucl,.,:ship nOwinees and made a recommendation of either not--

my recollect.ion is they either made a recc!TI.inend.:.".tion of qualified, lvell-

qualified, exceptionally vell-qualifi8d--,Jhich ~-Jere the three favorable 

categories, or unqualified. Ra~sey suggested that, in his judgment, the 

ADA Committee \-lould probably not give a qualified recormncndation to this 

man because of this speech. 

The President told Ramsey at the very outset that Senator Russell 

h~tu. been his dC2.r friencI. I think I mentioned to you the other day tha.t 

the President told me on a couple of occasions that Dick Russell was the 

dc::" ,_,st triem! he h:.;.u. in tIl: Se:[1,:.tc. As a mat:.cr of fa.ct, Dick Russell hall 

nu~,lii::~:"'cd ,:.,,1 lli every l'I'JIl0r il.ncl c\Tcry pOSition th.1.t he, Lyndon ]711>!P~:';~, 
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had ever .-:ll:-:.,- ;:,::(:. Obviously, Did: Rl1-'-;cll dil~:l't wlnin.:J.te him to be 

Vice Prcsident, didn't nominate him for President in '64. 

F: This is an extension of that original nomination. 

T: Dick E'-iSSC 11 nomi.1.tcd Lyndon Johnson to be H: ,-"ority Leader back in the 

early ':-il): s and--I.lore th~::1 nominated him--had been the one that arranged 

the situation for hiI:l to get that position. r think Dick Russell cO:.lld 

have been it, or anybody Dick Russell wanted. Lyndon Johnson never for-

got that, and he had a great, great deal of affection for Senator Russell. 

I think r indicated earlier--r'rn not keeping this in much of a chrono-

logic,-:,.l order-·· 'oj t I l:no~,: froD1 abol! t the time I got thcre-- got to the 

White l-Iouse--~'::;1 sta:-'.::,:,d goin8 on tbe bodroom det,'lil, that ,ite frequer:tly 

He ~'lculu COlne in 2.D.d have bl-eZlld,'..st "lith the Prec;idcnt just priv::'-:ly, 

F: VIilcn ,::',C Prss ide:, thad breakfas t like that, did he: go back do;m to the 

seco: J ~lOClc dining room, or did he eat in his roorn? 

T: Hhen ;:c h2.d breakLl~t lil~e tho.t, he "Jou:!.d ho.-"':2 brc.:lkfo.st on the second 

£100:: ~ ~:;::':'g roor.:) yes. Ordinarily the Pr-=sident ate br"akfast in his 

bedrc:,:: ~,::'Cn ~w ':-Jas eating by hi.msc" f and rC2Gl.ng the morning papers or 

the r::c-::-:i:-::.; ;:'cports and calling p(~ople on the tc]cphone. But ,7hen an 

indi'~:::~,l 1~~·:e Scn;,tor P.usscll, Oi: ,:hen he: hac the Conf:;ressional b·ceak-

fasL ,~ ·.'-G,_,id be, in the, dini,:s roar" 0" the second floor. Senc:tor Russell 

i:1 :C<lJ ,~'ut \i:"::.hout evc:;: being noticc:cl. Haybe the only ones 

uho ;:n:.crc "Quid be the President 

and ,,,c['veu tbcr::. And the 
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President wouldn't make any to-do about Senator Russell being there. 

F: He Has never on tlw reco~,·:1. 

T: No, not 2.t all. You could almost tc;ll that ~vhen there came a critic.':.l 

point with regard to foreign policy or foreign affairs, he valued and he 

want~d Senator Russell's counsel, and he would bring him in. Senator 

Russe 11 ,vas ah,ays very generous to come, even thouf::h he was in bad 

health then. I thin!c uhenever the Pr.esident ,vanted him, he ceme--short 

notice or no notice. 

F: Was he pretty forthright with the President? 

T: I assuu:e so frc' uh3.t the President told me. I never sat in on any of 

those brc.:l.lc;:''=>ts, and I never really Has there during any of the exc),2.nges. 

But I assume so frc~ what the President seide That's just a little Lit of 

a background. 

But back where we were. The President told R~3,;ay thet he, the 

President, diehl't uant to do anything to undermine or to hrunper or to 

dest\'oy or to caus;:; any problem ,,::'th the federal judiciary end the 

critical problc~s that they faced in the area of desegregation. You'll 

have to rC:J.1Cmb2r ti"lat--to put this in the context of the tim2--this \las 

sort of during the early talking of Resurrection City. It 't-las after the 

riots of the sU;:'""TIQr of 1967, and before people ~lere anticipating the 

problems in 1968. The President said he didn't want to cause any problem; 

but he also valued the jud;rnent and frien·:lship of Senat.or Russell, 

recognized what ~ pn~er Senator Russell was in the Senate, and didn't 

~'lant to offend S('nator Russell. lIe said, "If He come to the final 

conclusioJl tL2..t \,'C- cem't appoint hi.:-:-;, the:; Herll COi.ie to th3.t conch:' ion. 
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this Elan in a ~'lay that he can be .J.ppointed vithout hampering the judi-

ciary, without doing anything to undermine the judiciary, I want to do 

it. I ~vant to appoint thi s man." 

F: And Alexander has disclaimed his earlier statements? I'm anticipating. 

T: The next step he did. Ramsey had said at the outset that he didn't think 

there ~'las a ,-lay to rehabilitate this man, so to speak, and told the 

President of the problems. 

The President talked to Senator Russell about them. Senator Russell 

in turn talked to Nr. Alexander, and reported back to the President that 

Hr. Alexander had said that the speech that was attributed to him ,vas 

made: by Lim. He did nake that speech. Those ,,,ere sincerely and validly 

held ViC"lS at the tiDe he made the speech. He Hasn't going to retract 

what he said because that speech did reflect his view at the time he made 

the SD2CCD. Perhaps he had matured, perhaps the situation the country 

had c~a~ged, his attitude had changed; but he now recognized--he being 

Mr. _~_lexander--';.lhat the la,-] of the land \Vas. He recognized that the 

Supr2r'"a Court had r..ade its decision--that that ,·las the rule that was to 

be enforced by the local courts. He recognized ""hat the other appellate 

courts ha.d done as ,,<::11 as the district court, and that, if the President 

saw £~t to uominate him to that position, that under no circumstances 

would he try to superimpose his own particular feelings or his old parti-

cular ~ud:;:::e[lts to the cases and facts pending before him; that he could 

and T"celr: ~l??l;t- the law as it had been enunciated by the Supreme Court 

and the c:p',cellate courts, and ~wuld not give vent to any prejudice or 

preco.~::.~:"'2:i notion of his OHn 280Ut a situation. 

Se~~~~r ~~ssell in recounting this to the President said that this 

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



assurance satisfied him) Senator Russell) about this man; and that he 

sf~;_ll ,.,ranted to recommend }lr. Alexander. He still \,;anted to tell 

the President that 't>las his only recommendation. 

21 

The President relayed that to Ramsey. All this started in January 

and> without s.3.ying when the conversation took place) it transpi.red during 

tho spring of '68. The President relayed that to Ramsey, and Ramsey 

said, "Well, he would do some more checking." The checking indicated 

that the opposing organizations, the opposing groups, thought that was 

not satisfactory for them. They thought that Mr. Alexander would, either 

directly or indirectly, consciously or subconsciously, apply his own  

prejudice as indicated in that speech, and that it would be a backward 

ste? for the judiCiary. They wanted to continue to oppose him. 

About this !:i=:B the President had a meeting in the White House of the 

ABA Committee that checked on judges. I told you the man's name the other 

day from Chicago who was the chairman of that committee, and now it has 

deluded me again. I'll think of it in a minute. The President told me 

that as soon as he had his little social visit with these representatives 

of the ABA, that he wanted to meet with the chairman by himself, and asked 

me to pull the chairman aside and bring him in. So after the meeting, 

I brought him in, 2nd the President talked to him about all the judge-

ships; expressed to him individually, as he had expressed to the committee 

as a whole, his, the President's, appreciation for all the work they had 

done and the time and effort they had expended to help him in these 

selections of judges. 

He went into detail to e:-""Plain his problem to this man '>lith regard 

to Senator Russell's recomrnendation) Hith regard to Mr. Alexander, 
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and what the Attorney General had turned up. He told him just what he 

had told the Attorney Gener:,l, that he the Presidint did not ,.;ant to 

undermine or do anything that ",auld c,-,-use a problem ,.;ith the federal 

judiciary; and that he starting with that premise, he wanted to end with 

that premise. But in between there, he also wanted to say that if there 

was any way, in good conscience, that he could namc this man--Mr. Alex-

ander--to the federal judgeship, that he Hanted to do so. At this point 

the President told the chairman or the committee that he recognized the 

ordina:.-y proceciun, "las for the con:raittee to call a lai\'yer in the area 

of the n08inee was beoin; considered lived, and to have that ImJyer 

in the area clwcL out the man and rc::port back to the committee and have 

the cC:7,;nittee then make its recoIT.2endations or decision. 

TLe Pres iOC:1t. said, "I don r tHan t to do that in this case. This 

is of such import2nce that I! d like to asl~ you to go do-.:;, to Georgia. 

I wane you person~lly to conduct this inVEstigation, and find out what 

the situ.J.tion is, finel out uhat all the facts are and ll:.J.l."C a recollliT:cnrlatiGu 

to me, I'm not trying to get you to prejudge it here. I'm telling you 

I wan:: to appoir,:: this m.J.n, but by tellint; you that, I'm not trying to ~2b 

the decision fo~ you. But I want you to be fair, and I want you to be 

thorou;h. 11 This r-:.J.n said that hc \loulel do that. He did undertake that 

investi.;atLon. 

,\:.. :::his poirce: Senator Russell pas told that the President hac. speci-

ficall" 2..s;:cd .for a nc,', thorou,c;h cO:~lplcte ADA invcstigCltion. I might say 

still 

F: 

::..1) i : ~ l C. :.:: l ~ . 
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Justice Warren wanted to retire, effective at the pleasure of the Presi-

dent--I believe H.:lS tk· term th.:ll: got a uhole lot of controversy and ,·JaS 

the source of a ,·:hole lot of discussion. I'll come back to what ~ven:": 

on into the Fortas-Thornberry nomili.ltions in a minute. But to keep this 

separate, he did decide to nOi:-i·~3.te Jus L:ice Fortas to be Chief Justice 

and Judge Thcl:~"Lerry to be Associate Justice of the SupreIi!~ Court. 

The President thought that at the time the tHO keys in the Senat.:! 

to the confirmation of those t,;o individuals 'vere Senator Russell and 

Senator Dirksen, for the fairly obvious reasons that he anticip~~ed 

some Southern Senator opposition, most of whom were Democrats, to at 

least Jus.:ce Fortas. He thought that if Senatur Russell supported 

Justice Fortas, that if that didn't elimin~te Southcln opposition, it 

~'lOuld at least cut inL it to the: point that he could still get Justice 

Fortas confLc::'2d. By th'~: same token he knc,., that Everett Dirksen ~}as 

not onl~: the le<.:!Ccr of the: Repilbli.cans in name, he Has the leacl':'>r of the 

Republicans in fact, and if he supported the nomination, there was a 

likelihood of its approval. 

So the President CJntacted both Senator Russell and Senator Dirksen 

and talked to thsr.1 about the nominations prior to the time that he made 

them. He obtain2d from both of them Hhat he took to be a commitment that 

they lvould suppcrt the. nomination of Justice Fortas to be Chief Justice 

and Judge Thornber~y to be Associate Justice of the Supreme Court. When 

the nomination was made, shortly thereafL0r, you'll recall that Senater 

Dirksen r..J.dc sc.vc'-.J.l speeches cndorsi ng the nominations on the floor 

of the SClatc. 1:11 ilc. no spc~ecll \las eve r m~dc by Senator nusse 11, as I 

rccClll, it Has f(Lirly CO,~~~0n l:nCJ~.;lcdG\:' that he ,·las supportin::; the nOl:lin:-,tLom, • 

. GOPV is) UBRARY : 
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He sto:-ted \Vorkin;:; on the nouinations ond t)~yjng to ?,('t confirm.:ltion 

of Fort~ls-ThornlJerry during the ~'.J.JliC time this rcinvestigaL Lon \la~ go:i.ng 

on Hith ret: :d to Hr. Alex.:cnder. I rec.:lII tha,t after the noraina,::ons of 

Fortas a,nd Thornberry that the President ha,d another conversation Hith 

Ramsey _ It relatc3 among other things to the Alexander appointr:;:ent; and 

he asked RODsey the status. Ramsey told him they had just not gotten 

the inf"j-mation. It Has still Ramsey's judgment that thc: nomination should 

not be F·0e, that there was no way that Alexander should be nominated. 

The President said to Ramsey, "I tc Id my friend Dick Russc 11 that 

if there is a W2y to appoint that Dan, I want to do it. Now I know you 

don't ~ant to appoint him. I know you're opposed to it, and I'm not 

telling you that I dcf:i!Ltely ar:1 (;oin,; tn app, ,:_Dt hin. I'm just tell ing 

you that I H2.nt to if there's ;my I.-lay that I can. I don't think you H.:lnt 

to appoint hir;~. IT I think th;::t l'ias true. I thinl,;. R2.1-:lsey Hcmld bear that 

out. "I don't thiGk you Hane. to norc:ino.te him, but I do; 2nd if there t s 

a way to posture him w~ere we cnn nominnte hi~, I want to do that. 

NOH go ":;-:;:.: ilfter iL, and sec if there I s a H2.y to do th2tll--Hith that kind 

of a mandate and instruction. 

F: The Pr~si~2~t never \Vould have, though, just completely overridden his 

Attor:-:c': C~nera 1 ",ad taken someone uho bad been turned do~m by the 

Attorncv G~nernl? 

T: I don I c: ::::,inlc so. That Has a matter tho..t I think Senntor l~ussell never 

undc:r:;:~v)~;. L:tC Pccsiclcnt told SLn,~ltor Russell, on at least one occasion, 

At toc-

LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

More on LBJ Library oral histories: 
http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh



25 

Attorney Ceneral) .:md dido I t think that he could o~ Hould. People "ho 

don 't understand Lynda, Johnson, or Ramsey Cl<:!.rk, or 'T" ybe a Pre:->ident 

and an Attorney Gcn~ral, probably wouldn't und2rstand that. I think people 

generally think that a Pl."l; ':"dent is a Presidcnt--

F: He's the boss. 

T: Yes, he's the bO.l and if he wants to nominate somebody, he can. If 

he ,vants a recc:<:endation, all he bas got to say is, "Nmv, you're my 

Attorney Genc:::.:ll. You make th'.lt recorr.llki!".l:ltion to me." That may have 

happened in other Administrations ui.tli other Presidcnt~ 2:<d other 

Attorneys General, but I C2,1 S2.y it didn't happen here. I think maybe 

Selwtor Russ,""ll didn l t understand that. 

He sent Ra.::lsGY b.::..c·~( and, )ld him to hurry up ,>lith the processing 

and get the n<W.2 bc.:.cl· to him. I think it' G accurate to say--and t~'.is is 

only my analysis--that Ra:n.3ey Has intentio'~ally dragging his feet. 

Ramsey didn't want to nominatc Mr. Alexander. He know that if they had 

to expedite the processin; and expedite a decision, thaL decision Hould 

be in favor of a no;-ninu.tion. I think Ramsey t·laS sort of playing for another 

day in hope thatso~cthing would happen that would help him to persuade 

the President not to nominate t 1 is rr.an. He felt very keenly about it. 

Ramsey had great admiration and respect for Senator Russell. He 

understood Senatorls Russell position of pm-Jer, and understood Senator 

Russell's long great friendship f~r th~ President and with the President. 

Eut he still did not think the right decision ~vas to norr.inate this man. 

So Ilm satisfiec: in i~ly mm mind tllat Ransey Has drag;ing his feet on the 

nomination. In any event, it did take some while longer. 

Durin6 thL' cuurs(C of '.·!urk.i.ng ell the fli~ta,~ Thornberry nor.inJ.tic)[ls, 

. COpy iBJ UaRARY 
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the President asked one day that I go up and talk to Senator Russell. He 

had asked me to talk to several Senators, and really sort of supply them 

with information fro~ which they could support Justice Fortas and Judge 

Thornberry. I might say, as an aside here, that very early in the game, 

so to speak, HOwer Thornberry got out of the pict~re because his nomina-

tion obviously was contingent on Fortas. He never really came up to bat. 

He 't.Jas in the dugout >vaiting his turn, and his turn never carne. The 

spotlight that started on Justice Fortas and Judge Thornberry fairly 

soon shifte~ over onl'1 to Justice Fortas, and Judge Thornberry got out 

of the pitture. 

F: If Fortas got a safe hit then Thornberry would get to bat, but not 

berore that. 

T: That's right. As 2. :;-,atter of fact as it turned out, I guess you'd say 

the g2....-ne was c211ei ·..;ith Fortas at bat. He never got a chance to hit 

or 1"2i:=:3. But \.Je he.::' co:::piled some information ,'7ith regard to Justice 

Fortas. h'e did -w::.::::c - , Jt!cge Thornberry but I'm going to put that aside 

because we neve= h2d to use it very much. 

There \"28 a lot or objection to Justice Fortas on the ground th2t he 

was tco liberal. He was soft on crime. He was a part of that band of 

people on the Su?=e~e Court who helped r ~der these decisions that had 

given rise to 2 ~=e2t crime rate in the country, and that sort of thing. 

We hac c:.orfl'0i1ed information about his decisions and about his views t:.-cat 

indic2 t.2:1 th2.t, in truth and in fact, he 1·]a5n' t soft on crime as Sam Ervin 

had Sol=.< ,~e",c..:> 2.ne. as other Senators had said he >vas. The Departl:lent 

of JU:3:i::::2 r~id a fine job of researching his decisions ancI put together 

a lit::>:, -:~'>:-:O::-2.::"Q~l::; of his decisions, and hov] he Lad voted. Obviously 
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that was done from an advocate standpoint. I wouldn't suggest that every 

decision he ever made was put in there, but Swn Ervin and the other 

Southern Scnators were able to dig up the decisions they thought to be 

unfavorable. We didn't try to help them by giving them decisions we 

thought they might not like. But we put together a memorandum of the 

decisions that showed he'd expressed views, that these positions he had 

taken wi th the Supreme Court were not designed to help the criminal, but 

lvere in fact designed to protect the freedoIl.:" of the innocent and really 

to help the laH enforcement officials. 

You'll recall that it was at about that tiuethat Justice Fortas 

"t¥rotc a litt}" book--I call it a p2::1phlet because I got it in pamphlet 

ro'(m--"Civil Dis(",bl!dience and Dissen .. ," I believe or, "Dissent and Civil 

Diso::,edicnce"--in \'lhich he expressed his vie"s about both of them. 

I remer;:bcr l'lhcn He "7er~ "Iorking on this, I told the President about eleven 

o'clock one night that I thought it would be good to go through this 

little pamphet and extract those statements that showed him to be maybe 

hard line on law enforcement, or hard line against criminals, and use 

that in addition to his decisions. The President said he thought that was 

an excellent idea and why didn't I do that, and we could use it the 

following morning when he had a Congressional breakfast. 

F: Th~t's a good time to start reading, isn't it? 

T: Well, as a matter of fact, that's e:·:actly wat I did. I 'vent through and 

extracted those things that nigh t, and we had an all-night typing pool. 

I got Q secretary over ~t one o'clock al.d had her start typing and I 

left there at two while she was still typing. I didn't know when she 

finished. But that's the sort of thing we put together in any event. 
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That's the sort of thing I took to Senator Russell. 

I remember the President said to me, ITou go up and sce Senator 

Russell, and take Harry Mcpherson ,·lith you. Ha.rry Hon't knm" anything 

abou t 1.oJhat you I ve put together, and I'll look to you to make the pitch 

so to speak. But Dick Russell is as fond of Harry as a son, and that'll 

help be your entree up there. You take Harry Hith you and get Harry to 

make the appointment for yoU. 11 I said, "Fine," and 1."e did. I thought 

at the time it was a sort of interesting sidelight of the wa.y the Presi-

dent kne\" people and k"eu hm" to handle them. He knc"" that Senator 

Russell had met me only when he had seen me there in the mornings when 

he'd come over for the early breakfast, and had no rapport with me, and 

didn't really know who I was. 

F: You were just a face. 

T: But he was exceedingly fond of Harry, and when we went up there the early 

part of our meeting related to a lot of discussion about, "How's your 

family, Harry? What are your kids doing now?" and a very paternal interest. 

The President was exactly correct in his analysis of the situation. 

The one thing that I remember, that I told the President, is when I 

saw Senator Russell--I had not known Senator Russell and I had just seen 

him either at a distance as I did in 1959 when I Has in Washington, by 

pictu::-es on TV, or on the brief occasions I sacoJ him Hhen he came in to 

see the Pre s ident for those breakfas ts. But this was not a morning time 

as the t~mes I had seen him were when he I'm sure Has relatively fresh. 

This:·:cc= :,,-=2 ; ~ tIlE: afternoon. He had just gotten up from resting on his 

couch, I remember how shocked I was at how sick this man looked. He 

even at that time, had emphysema and didn't have a lot of strength to it 
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\ .... as almost: as if I ~-las sec;.'-!:; a m:--' \Vha \V<lS just righL at death's door-

s tep ~ as he vcry clc.J.rly to me lo";';:ccl to 1 .'. Even Harry, ,.,ho h;:.d kno-;·JU 

him a long time and had seen him far more frequently than I had, told me 

afterward that he was shocked. A man that clearly was not well and clearly 

didn't have much strength. He ,vas carrying on sort of a ",heezing conver-

sation. 

The significance of this is that after we talked about Fortas, at 

the conclusion of the meeting he said, "Do you kn:1 ' •. ; anything about my 

federal judgeship, II--"lhich I did, but I recognized irn:nediately that it was 

not my place to carryon any detailed conver:.ation "'itll him about the 

merits. I s.1.id, "Sen:!tor, as a matter of fact, I do know the Pr!:sic\:nt 

has had a convers2.tion \-lith the I~ttorney General just this \\Teek abc": 

it,ll as he had, lIand they're still Horking on it." He said, lPi-lell, you 

tell the President that I said that I'm still very, very interested. I 

hope he'll make that nomination, and I sure Hould like for it to be done 

pretty soon.lf 

I re(.Jrted th<lt to the President uhen He got buck to the Hhitc House 

after telling him about the conversations relative to Jus Lice Fortas. 

He asked that I call Ramsey again 2nd tell Ramsey to get on it, and to 

"lork on it, and get that nominu.tion over to him. Ramsey said that he 

had not yet gott2n the ADA final report. This is going to be an unfair 

statement, but I'll make it--I'll give the characterization of unfairness 

to it--I've ah7ays 30rt of h.:::;d the suspicion that in addition to his 

other fout-ur<1.f.:;sing Qctivitii''', tl1C'.t P-ilmsey held up tlwt ABA report; that 

he LncH tl1.::lt: tk,l: \-}oulcl he the: cat.::l}·st for doing something, and I 

, 
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F: He just p.:l.sn't pushing .J.nythi;'~:. 

T: It took a. little longer to carry on that ABA report than usual. By the 

way, the man's name that was doing the ABA report was Bert Jenner--

Albert Jenner of Chicago, who was a long-time chairman of that commiittee. 

So the Pl.-~sid('nt told me ngain to tell Ramsey to get after th,,-~ ... 

It Has shortly thercafter--l think maybe the follm-ling ,vec:k-- just 

out of the blue, Hithout any prior oJ.nnmlncemeat, without any prior indi-

cation, the Pres;!ent received a long letter from Senator Russell. 

Senator Russell first recounted the long years of th~ir friendship, the 

great res~ect that he had for the Presid0nt, not only in his office as 

Pres ident but f()r the. P:rc.s ident pers:, ':,lly, and thei::.- friendship per-

sonally. Aild he said that "had thought throughout the years th!'Y had 

dealt ';li.th e~'c:h oth2r very hones tly, very forthrightly, very openly, and 

very car:didly. Certainly he, Senator Russell, had ahTays tried to deal 

Hith LYl'do;( John'.:m in just that I;c.y. A'- lec.st until no", h2 had thought 

that L~nd~n Johnson had dealt Hith him in just that way. 

Dut he said that h2 now had C'~;::2 to the conclusion th::it the Presi-

dent was no longer dealing with him that way. He had come to the 

conclusi2n that the President was using the Alexander nomination as sort 

of a club o~cr Senator Russell's head with regard to Fortas. He said that 

he had nc~: C0i':12 to the conclusior: tl, . the President ,·;ras intentionally 

holdin.::; un 1::;12 nor.inil'·i.ol' ~,£ He A!(:ander, avuinting the actiun by 

SCllatc:- :'_u:>scll on llw fortas nOl:'ina::ion. He kne", if he voted right on 
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Hhcn he had told the President that he 't·lOuld support Justice Fortas ~ he 

meant that he would support Justice Fortas. He had not dealt with the 

President on a quid pro quo basis of Fortas for Alexander. lfuile the 

President had not told the Senator that that was the 'tJay the President 

was dealing, the Senator had come to the conclusion that' S c};8.ctly 't.)'hat 

was happening. He just wanted the President to know that he had finally 

realized that that 'tJas ,·,hat ,.)'as happening. 

He resented it ~ and he 'tJanted the President to kno't<1 that he~ Senator 

Russell, didn't care if the President made the nomination of Mr. Alexander. 

While. the President had told him earlier that he, the President ~ wanted 

to make the nomination and \Jould make the nomination of Mr. Alexander, 

that the Senator no longer recognized that as being any kind of obliga-

tion on the President's part, and if it was an obligation, he, the Senator, 

was relieving the President of that obligation. He didn't care whether 

the President made that nomination or not. He was no longer interested 

in it. First. 

And secondly, while he had made a commitment on Justice Fortas and 

said that he would support Justice Fortas, he no longer felt any obli-

gation to support Justice Fortas because he thought that he had made that 

commitment really under unfair circumstances, under a false premise--

the false premise being that he thought that the President was dealing 

with him openly and directly. Now that he had come to the conclusion 

about what the President was doing, of using one to try to get support 

on the other, that he didn't think that fairness dictated that he'd have 

to abide by that commitment. He wanted the President 'to know that he 

no longer was going to abide by his commitment to support Justice Fortas. 
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lIe ju~;:~ ';'Jantccl tbc Presiuent to knO,·J that he: no longer thought he J!;' . .J 

any committment to support him under the circumstances. 

F: Has the Prl-~;iclent hurt or enraged or both? 

T: I'd say pro;.ably a combination of both--prob;:bly more hurt because of 

their friendship than he \'las angry. But I think probably that hurt turned 

to anger fairly quickly. Angry because he recognized that) at the very 

minir'um, his friendship with SC:l:ltor Russell \Vas undermined. At the 

rnaxiuum, I think that the President ,,,as quick enough to knm-} that once 

you undermine that relationship, not only do you impair the likelihood 

of getting Justice Fortas confirmed but you also have the problem of 

foreign affairs and the counsel of this man who had been his friend. 

F: Let's go hack just a moment, and then we'll co~e back to this. You neVEr 

had at the outset any doubts of the confirr:mtio1. of Justice Fortas? 

You ,·;er2 faj'ly confident Hhen the nane Hent up. 

T: That's ri~ht. I wa.s going to ceme in a minutt. to the fact of our tally. 

He hac: harci and fast eommitm2:1ts of SOI7:C sevo.nty-threc:: people--

F: And Dirksc~ and Russell. 

T: And Dirksen anel Russell. This ,-Jas a bloH, a serious hIm; to the confir-

matioLl. But I think the President's first thought didn't really quite 

go to the confirmation, although that 1JaS sort of parar,lount on the minds 

of tho. res t of us because that ~vas the l:ey thing He Here all Horking on. 

I don't: think the President imme.ciiatcly thought about it. I thirL~ he 

proha' Ly thou;:-tt in broader tcrr.1S of thc relationship ~.;ith this very 

key ir,[h!c:"t-iill impln-toJ.nt n:.:m--and foreign af[aLrs, as \·:ell as the domestic 

i. n l~YV presence.; 
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read the letter to him, and just was  outraged. [He] Said, "Ramsey, I'm 

very unhappy. I think your foot-dragging on this has destroyed one of the 

grcat friendships I've; lu .. d ~,'i th one of the great men that JI.:J.S ever served 

this cot!ntry. I'm unhappy about it." He said it much stronger than tl: ::, 

as a matter of fact. 

Then he Hent on to sort of think out loud ,-lith Runsey aboub what 

had happened, Hhat gave rise to this l~tter. First of all, the President 

said that the Premise that I'las contained in the letter--that he ,vas using 

the Alexander nomination to help get Fortas through was just false. It 

was just a lie. Let me say as an aside, I'm convinced that Senator 

Russell ~.:ls just 'Hay off base. He was wrong. He was completely wrong. 

:E': These t,,)O Lhings I·Jere really incie.' . ndent--

T: They re~lly were very indep~' ient. 

F: Jus t coin,~ ided in til:1-;;. 

T: There was some sugges tion by Sase of the peoplE:--I can't remembc" ~10 it 

was--that the President had known of Chief Justice Warren's retirement 

for some time; that Chief Justice Warren had told him some months back 

that he was going to retire, and that the President had asked him to hold 

it up until he could decide who he was going to nominate. Then when he 

finally, in Mayor June, decided that he was going to nominate Justice 

Fortas, then he told Chief Justice Warren to come ahead with the letter 

of retirement, and proceeded then. But that really just isn't true because 

I renember \.Jhcn he got Cl!ief Justice \':an-cn's letter hOH surprised he 

",as to get it. It just Hasn't true that he kne,·, in January or February 

or 1:1:lrch th.,t Chief Justice Hi1.LTen "7~S going to retire. I he~rcl him say 

later that hc, had heard rumors thc.t Chief Just:ice Harren.s [,;oing to 

. COpy WJ liBRARY ~ 
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retire, but he'd been hearing those rumors for a year or two. And he 

had seen Chief Justice ~{arren on several occasions with ample opportunity 

for the Chief Justice to confide in him of inpending retircment~ but he 

had never done so. So I think the President t'las right about this and 

Senator Russell waS just exactly wrong. 

The President said out loud that he thought that some of the opposi-

tio~ to Justice Fortas had planted this thought in Senator Russell's rnind--

had thought this story up. You knotv, it's obvious that several people 

could have known about the delay in the Alexander nomination.' That wasn't 

so ;secretive that the people might not have known about it. 

F: Probably everybody in Georgia who was politically minded. 

T: Right. The President just thou~~t that some other Southern Senator or 

somebody else that Has opposed to Fortas had concocted this story and had 

been able to sell it to Senator Russell. He JUSt said it wasn't true. 

It was a lie, but there wasn't anything he could do about it. 

F: Your interpretation of this though would be that it was Russell's pique 

over the delay in the Alexander nonination--because this precedes the 

revelations of the American University and so on--that really finished 

off Fortas. 

T: Right. 

F: So it's not anti-Fortas So much as it's just irritation--

T: Veil, some of the things started coming out about Fortas, but this lvas 

prior to the tine--

F: You still had your count? 

T: That's right. The President was very unhappy and very irritated. He 

told Ramsey that one of the things he wanted to do was proceed with the 
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nomination of Mr. Alexander. I think it's interesting that he said) 

"I don't think Dick Russell has any commitment to me on this, and if he 

really believes ,.;hat he has put in that letter, and I knotv he does believe 

it, then I don't fault him for saying he has got 'no commitment to me. 

But I still think I've got a commi tment to him because I told him I ~vas 

going to appoint his man if there \Vas any way I could, and I think there's 

a way I can. I think there I s a way that he can be pos tured to \vhere he 

can be appointed, and it won't undermine t~e judiciary, and it won't 

tear down everything I've done \V'ith the judiciary." And he said" "Ramsey, 

I want to go ahead and nominate him." And I can 't remember what the delay 

was. It w s very shortly thereafter he did go ahead and nominate Alexander. 

F: Did Ramsey ever back dotvn on this? 

T: No. First of all, Bert Jenner came in with his report for the ABA com-

mittee. My recollection is that the ABA committee concluded that that 

was a s tater.:ent made by a younger man who had matured" and a man who said 

he could, and that the committee thought would, abide by the decisions 

of the higher appellate court, and could be and would be a good judge. 

F: So he got his ABA bill of health. 

T: He got his ABA bill of health, either ".Jell-qualified)" or "exceptionally 

well-qualified," as a matter of fact. Ramsey finally did come in with 

a recommendatioa, but voiced to the President great doubts about it. 

The President went ahead and appointed him. But I will say that Ramsey 

was on record ,.;ith the re;:ommendation. The President didn't make the 

nomination with~ut it. 

F: The President never took it out of his hands? 

T :. :'10, sir! R~-:,sey, wi th an ins tance I'll show you later--if Rams~:{:_ 
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didn't want to be for something, he wasn't for it. The President didn't 

browbeat him into doing something th~t he didn't want to do. The thing 

that a lot of people never realized is that Ramsey Has just as tough-

minded and as obstinate a guy, in a non-derogatory sense, as the Presi-

dent ~"as or as anybody else. And if he didn't \mnt to do anyt:hing, if 

he didn't want to make a recommendation, the President couldn't force 

him to do it. 

F: There wasn't any of this, ''Damn it all, Ramsey, get it in or else!" 

T: No. And let me say this, if the President ever said, "Now, Ramsey, you 

either make a recommendation or I want another Attorney General," and 

Ra.."!lsey didn r t ,vant to make a recommendation, he'd have sent his letter 

of resignation over. So an~ay, this was done. 

The President started sending emissaries to Senator Russell. I 

think it's another interesting sidelight--. I think it's really typical 

of the President that when a circumstance like this would corne about, at 

least at the outset--as I told you about the Wirtz resignation for example--

he wouldn't have any direct conversations with the man that he sort of 

was dealing with. He'd send other people. As he sent Warren Christopher 

to talk to Wirtz and as he sent other people to talk to Wirtz, he was 

sending people to talk to Senator Russell or talk to Senator Russell's 

people. 

The first one he sent Has Torn Johnson, l-lho nOH is his executive 

assistant dO\vn here. Tom Eas Assistant Press Secretary or Deputy Press 

Secretary, and was from Georgia, and was a man that Senator Russell knew 

and liked and Has extremely fond of, and sort of looked upon as one of his 

state protégés. So he sent Tom to talk to some of Senator Russell's 
~, 
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staff people, and they did have that conversation. Torn reported back that 

the staff people told him that Senator Russell very strongly and very 

firwly believed Hhat he had put in the letter: that the additional 

source of irritation that Senator Russell had was his belief that he was 

kind of ignorant not to realize this sooner--that he was kind of late" 

in realizing what was happening, what the big picture was. 

F: Held been gulled. 

T: Right. And that he was unhappy about it. The President sort of sent 

people around to see if there ~-7as anything he could do to persuade Senator 

Russell that this just wasn't true; that Senator Russell just was wrong; 

that somebody had fed him a story that just was totally incorrect--

which the President very strongly believed and as I very strongly believed. 

He dian' t make much head~",ay. 

And finally--less thaCl. a ~veek, maybe five or six days after he got 

this letter--he called Senator Russell. I remember that I was there when 

he called him. He said, "Dick, I have your letter here in my hand. 

I [~cmTt think this letter reflects creditably upon you as a statesman. 

I don't t~ink it reflects very well upon me as your President. I don't 

thi::k i.t reflects very well on our long friendship. I just don't think 

that it is the kind of letter that I want to have in my file for historians 

to see.. Now, I don't want it in my file. I just want you to know that 

I don't think that it reflects this kind of credit. I'm going to send 

it back to you. I'm not going to make a copy of it. I'm not going to 

keE:~ ~c in my file. I'm not going to keep a copy in my file. I'm going 

to ::::Cc leU:e.r back t:) you. I hope you'll destroy it. \,;'"hatever you 

do ~s your decision, because it's your letter. It's not mine. 
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I don't ,·]ant it, and I don't ,vant to have it in my file. 

I'm going to tell you (it must have just been about that time) 

that I don't look upon you as having any sort of cormnitment to me ,dth 

regard to Justice Fortas or Homer Thornberry. I knm.; that: you Hill do 

as you've done ever since I've knmvn you, and that is make the decision 

yo~r conscience and judgment dictates at the time that is right for tl~ 

decision. I'm not going to ask you what that decision is. I'm not going 

to send anybody to you. I'm not going to have anybody else ask you. I'll 

know what your decision is "7hen I see the vote tallied. That's as soon 

as I ,vant to knmv. You do whatever you think the circumstances are, but 

do it in light--you say you don't feel like you have a commitment to me. 

Let me tell you, I don't feel like you've got a cowmitment to me. 

I'm going to nominate your recommendation to be federal judge for 

the United States District Court in Georgia, but it's not a quid pro quo. 

It wasn't ,.;hen I first told you I waS going to. It isn't now, and it isn't 

going to be. I never thought of the two together until you put them 

together in your letter. So I just want you to knm.; I'm going to nominate 

your P.lan, and I don't think you've got any cor.rmitment .. :0 me on Fortas. 

You do whatever you >;;tant to on that, and I kno>J it'll be the right decision" 

I might say, as an aside, that when \Je got to the vote, the vote 

never was on the merits. It Has on the cloture, try to cut off the filibuster. 

Senator Russell never voted for cloture, I believe, and he didn't vote 

for it this time. So that >Jas the vote he ultimately made. 

But the President said: "l do uant to senel this letter back, and 

I'm going to send it back, and you do with it as you want to, but I don't 

'.J:"tn tit i n ry £ i 1 e . II 
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Apparently Senator Russell said, "Fine, send it to me." I don't 

know what he said. I know from having been there that it was a--1 don't 

mean this derogatory--it \Vas a typical Lyndon Johnson conversation, which 

,.;as pretty much one vlay. There ,vas one talked and one listene·!..·. I 

think I overheard most of the conversation without listening.in on the 

telephone by just being present. 

He handed me the letter and asked that it be delivered back up there. 

I caIl r t remember hmv it got back up there. Tom Johnson may have--. It 

was hand-delivered, I do know that. I later thought that I may have made 

a ;;[ist2.}:e. I heard the President tell Senator Russell that he Hasn't 

gcing to sake a copy of it, and he never told me not to make a copy. 

I thought at the time very briefly and momentarily that what I should do 

,vas make a xerox copy of that letter, not thinking it was mine and not 

wit....'1 aIlY plans of keeping it because I never thought that anything that 

touched my hands when I was at the White House belonged to me. I must 

say I think there are those people that thought that if they ever I touched 

an:.,:hing, they had some proprietary interest in it. But I thought that 

I migh t s;,ould r::ake a copy of that \-lith the idea of giving it to the 

Pre::irl2nt at a 12.ter time if he changed his mind about ,mnting to have 

a C~~)~7 of it. but I did~ I t do that. I didn I t make a coi?Y. I'm sat is-

fied tha~ the President never made a copy. I had the letter most of the 

tim2. His secretary might have had an opportunity to do it~ but she 

did2:~. lie di~ return the original to Senator Russell without maintaining 

a cc~~ i~ jis files. 

~::i~~ the significant thing about that whole episode is that I don't 

beL,'2 ,_,.":: c:::l2.ci::Juship bet~-Jeen Senator Russell and Lyndon Johnson ,·las 
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ever the same again. I obviously never talked to Senator Russell about: it, 

but I would guess that to this day Senator Russell believes still what 

he put in that letter. To this day I know almost for a fact in my m.Jn 

mind that he is totally ,Jrong--couldn r t have been more "tvrong. But I think 

he still believes it and I don't think the relationship was ev~r the same 

thereafter. Obviously there ,veren' t more than about six months left in 

the Presidency and the counsel of Dick Russell was not as needed during 

the waning days as that counsel ,vas needed earlier. But I· think it r s 

a great tragedy that the relationship--a fine relationship--between ~vo 

great strong leaders seemed to have been undermined because of an illu-

sion in a man's mind that just was wrong. I think that's a shame, but 

I think that is what happened. What happened with the letter ~ I don' t 

know. You indicated to me that Senator Russell had not agreed to be 

interviewed, and I don't knm-l if he kept it--if it will ever come to 

light. As I indicated to you earlier~ I think at least for awhile this 

story that I've just told may be o~e I want to restrict. 

F: To go back a little ways, let's talk about the summer-early fall of the 

nomination of Fortas. Let r s s.ay one other thing though to wrap up this; 

to do a little sequel to this story as a postscript. The President did 

go on and nominate Alexander and there was virtually no flap? 

T: Exactly. I'll sayan Ramsey's behalf, if that nomination had been 

premature--premature in the sense of prior to a fairly extensive examina-

tion and investigation and all--that there might have been more of a flap. 

Ny recollection is there was some little opposition to him; but he ,.]as 

nominated; he \,as confirmed. 

r: This is guess\.JOrk, but if the nomination had come out around th~ first of 
", ... 
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}jay, I think you'd have had a real problem ,-lith all that ",as building 

up for the sumner. 

T: I think that's probably right. 

F: But the didn't take place. But on the Fortas nomination then--on your 

headcounts you had originally seventy-three. Did the President express 

conce~ over holding his firm count? 

T: Yes. \,nat happened, the President sort of looked to the Attorney General 

and to me to kind of keep the headcount and sort of be responsible for 

the :lomination. The.:-e were a lot of people doing work. "He had a sub-

stantial nu~ber of people contacting members of the Senate. For example, 

even though Marvin Watson was over at the Post Office Department then 

[':;$] Postmaster General, he Has doing some nose-count, head-count ,-lith 

Senators. Mike Manatos, ",ho was the legislative liaison with the Senat~ 

for the White House, ,-las doing head-count. Barefoot Sanders, ,o]ho did 

so~e work with the Senate--primarily responsible for the House as the 

legislative liaison froD the I·lhite House--was doing some contacting. 

Ramsey was; Warren Christopher was; Harry McPherson did some. Jim Jones 

did some. Joe Califano did some. Paul Porter, who was the senior member 

of the law firm that Justice Fortas formerly practiced with, sat in on 

m03C of our meetings because he was helping to marshal some of the outside 

or:;~'lj_zations. And He did a fairly good, and I think accurate, head-

CCC:EL. Those tallies are over in the President I s files. You can take a 

lo:xz .,"" t t:hem Z:ld see. But the first headc:ount we had indicated that we 

hc.~:- -~ . .' r"2CO llection is--seventy- three. I t might be seven ty- two, but 

F: h"h'. :::z::~,::3 you rye got anothec dozen or more th.::lt--
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T: Right. Those were firm. That didn r t mean that "tole had bventy-seven that 

,,,ere firmly agains t us. There ,,,ere some uncommitted ones. l·re even did 

sone early counting as to cloture. \~ile we needed a two-thirds vote 

for cloture, we had some sixty-six or sixty-seven--right at two-thirds 
~ 

of the Senate. You never really ahve a full group there. A fellow who 

might not want to vote for cloture but might want to help you could 

conveniently absent himself. So we did keep this count. I think 

most of us thought ,,,e were in fairly good shape, and we were working at: 

it daily. I don't think we were overly optimistic about it, but we 

felt fairly good about it. 

Not the President. From the very outset--maybe his whole mode of 

operation is one of crisis, but he said, '~~erre going to be in trouble 

on this. ~.Je Ire going to be in trouble on this." One of the things I 

do remeDber quite vividly is he said, '~e've got to get this thing 

through, and we've got to get it through early, because if it drags 

out we're going to get beat. Dirksen will leave us." 

He fed Some information to Senator Dirksen, and he made several 

speeches. Somebody said, "He's committed on record. He has made a 

speech on the floor of the Senate several times--stated publicly to the 

press that 1\e's for the nomination." He [LBJ] said, "Just take my word 

for it. I knov him. I knmv that Senate. If they get this thing drug 

out very long, we're going to get beat." He said that from the very 

outse t. And he said, "Ev Dirksen will leave us if ~le get this thing 

strung out very long. If 

I recall that the President would get very, very irritated, and 

very, very frustrated at the fact that we couldn't get the 
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and concludc::d and the report out of the Senate Judiciary Committee as 

fast as ~"e \Vanted to. Senator Eastland Has some source of holding it up. 

Sam Ervin Has some source of holding it up. The thing just got bottled 

up in commi ttee. I recall, as I think I indicated to you the other day, 

that the President said, ''t.Je're a bunch of dupes dmm here. They've 

got all the wisdom. All the sagacity is reposed up there. They're 

just SDarter than we are. We're a bunch of ignorant, immature kids 

who don't knm.; anything about this. They're up there. They're whipsa<;.;ing 

us to death becaus·- they're dragging their feet. He've got to do some-

thing. II It really Hc.S more of a conunent than it was a chastisement 

because he kne~V' that they were the ones that had the ball in their hands. 

They were the ones that were controlling the ball game. Since the ball 

had left our court and was over in theirs. They had it and they were 

doing Hith it as they wanted to. If Senator Eastland wanted to delay the 

hearings, he could delay the hearings. That was his prerogative. If 

he wanted to call a Hitness back, he could call a witness back. The 

President understood that. He knew that, but he l.;as still irritated by 

the whole thing. 

As the nomination proceeded, we did start getting defections. It 

lolas .'l. very, very sordid ~r51t of a thing-and I don 't mean that relative 

to ~he De~~ers of the Senate that opposed it. But the American Nazi 

Par~v. for exanple, had just one of the most vituperative inexcusable 

recordings I ever heard, on sort of like you dial the weather. It was 

a 1.:: le?::--,:::JrLe mli~ber in Arlington, Virginia, that you could dial and sort 

of ;~C :~2 part line from the American Nazi party in it. It generated a 

lot of not only suggestions of Communism, but the getting into the anti-
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anti-Semitic thing Hith Justice Fortas. One of the recordings I knm .. that 

He got) and had a copy of the recording as ~vell as the transcript~ 

referred to hir.l as a red-leaning JeH. Just atrocious! Some of the 

things that got started during the nomination. It had nothing to do with 

the serits. I must say that that was one of the things that probably 

inu!:"ed our--
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